6

ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

APPELLATE PANEL  
The Honorable Mike Campbell, The Honorable Melody L. James  
and The Honorable Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr.

WCC No. 1504993  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000084

Horace L. Adell, Jr.,

Employee/Claimant/  
Respondent,

-v-

Clean Streak, Inc.,

Employer/ Respondent,  
and

Builders Mutual Insurance Company,

Carrier/Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

George A. Taylor, Esquire (S.C. Bar No. 100245)  
Alden G. Terry, Esquire (S.C. Bar NO. 102851)  
CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC  
Post Office Box 1390  
Columbia, SC 29202-1390

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE SOUTH WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED AN INJURY ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH CLEAN STREAK, INC.?
2. EVEN IF CLAIMANT SUFFERED A COMPENSABLE INJURY, DID THE SOUTH WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN AWARDING THE CLAIMANT TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS?
3. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN ADMITTING A STATEMENT FROM THE CLAIMANT'S CHIROPRACTOR BECAUSE THAT STATEMENT WAS NOT A MEDICAL RECORD ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT?
4. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN AWARDING PAYMENT FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT AND SURGERY WHEN CLAIMANT MADE NO ATTEMPT TO INFORM THE CARRIER OF THIS SURGERY AND OBTAIN PRIOR AUTHORIZATION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in a worker's compensation case. The hearing before the Single Commissioner was held on February 17, 2016, based upon the issues raised in the Forms 50 and 51 filed by the parties. The matter had previously been scheduled for August 31, 2015, but the Claimant's lawyer withdrew his Form 50.

The Claimant is the sole owner of the Employer, Clean Streak, Inc. Clean Streak, Inc., had its own counsel present at the hearing before the Single Commissioner. Naturally, Clean Streak, Inc. supported the claim that Horace L. Adell, Jr. was injured by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment. The Carrier denies that the Claimant suffered a compensable injury by accident under the Act and asserts that, even if he did, he is not entitled to a

running award of temporary total disability benefits because he admits that he has been working.

At the hearing before the Single Commissioner, the Claimant asserted that he was injured while working at his second home in Myrtle Beach, which he asserts doubled as a new office of the Employer, while lifting two buckets of wax belonging to the Employer. The Carrier asserts that the Claimant himself characterized this so-called "office" as his second home; that Claimant changed his story about how he was injured multiple times; and that the Claimant at times hid and then minimized the fact that he had suffered from back and neck problems for years, treating with doctors and a chiropractor.

The Claimant sought a finding of compensability with regard to his neck injuries, casually-related medical care for that condition and entitlement to temporary total disability benefits from March 25, 2015, to the present and continuing. The Defendants asserted that, even if the Claimant's injuries did occur at work, which they vehemently deny, the evidence shows that the Claimant is and has been continuing to work for Clean Streak, Inc. and that on the advice of others he has deliberately chosen to forego his salary from the business in order to make his claim for temporary total disability benefits. The Carrier also points out that the Claimant admitted that he sought and obtained surgery for his neck injury, which the Carrier maintains was a chronic problem, without notice to or approval from the Carrier.

The Single Commissioner found the claim compensable and ordered as follows:

1. The Defendants shall pay temporary total disability benefits in the amount of \$766.05 per week from March 25, 2015, to the present and continuing until further Order of this Commission or agreement of the parties;
2. The Defendants shall pay for charges for the Claimant's causally related medical care from the date of the injury and continuing further Order of this Commission.

Both parties timely filed a Request for Commission Review, and a hearing was held before the Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel on August 16, 2016. The Carrier appealed the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner and argued that 1) Claimant did not suffer an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Clean Streak, Inc.; 2) even if Claimant suffered a compensable injury, Claimant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to temporary total disability benefits; 3) the Commissioner properly excluded a statement from the Claimant's chiropractor because that statement was not a medical record admissible under the Administrative Procedures Act; and 4) the hearing Commissioner improperly awarded payment for medical treatment and surgery when Claimant made no attempt to inform the Carrier of this surgery and obtain prior authorization. Clean Streak, Inc. appealed the hearing Commissioner's finding that a statement from the Claimant's chiropractor was inadmissible.

After oral arguments, the Appellant panel of the Worker's Compensation Commission Affirmed the Order of the Single Commissioner in regard to the Claimant's entitlement to benefits and as a compensable claim, and reversed the Single Commissioner's ruling in regard to the admissibility of the proffered statement of the Claimant's chiropractor.

Claimant now appeals the Decision and Order of the Commission alleging: 1) the Commission erred in finding that Claimant suffered an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Clean Streak, Inc.; 2) the Commission erred in finding that Claimant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to temporary total disability benefits; 3) the Commission erred in finding that the statement from the Claimant's chiropractor was admissible under the Administrative Procedures Act; and 4) the Commission erred in awarding payment for medical treatment and surgery when Claimant made no attempt to inform the Carrier of this surgery and obtain prior authorization.

The Claimant has not appealed the Commission's Order.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The Claimant testified that he is 53 years-old and married to Susan D. Adell who also works in the business of Clean Streak, Inc. (R. p. 165, lines 9-7; Hr'g Tr. 40, Feb. 17, 2016.) Mrs. Adell, however, is also out on disability, so she takes only a "very minimal" salary. (R. p. 210, lines 10-12; Hr'g Tr. 85; See also R. p. 325, line 22-p. 326, line 22; 30(b)(6) Dep. pp. 28-29, Aug. 25, 2015.) Claimant graduated from high school in North Carolina. (R. p. 166, lines 20-25; Hr'g Tr. 41.) He started Clean Streak, Inc. in approximately 1992. Clean Streak, Inc. is a company which provides industrial cleaning services to businesses and other commercial settings, including hospitals. (R. p. 169, line 2-p. 170, line 2; Hr'g Tr. 43-45.) At the time of the accident, Clean Streak, Inc. had 32 to 35 employees all in North Carolina. It recently expanded into South Carolina and, according to the Claimant, now has three employees in this State. (R. p. 170, lines 4-5; Hr'g Tr.

45.) According to Susan Adell, who is Vice President and an officer, Clean Streak, Inc. was substantially more profitable in 2016 than it was in 2015 after Mr. Adell stopped receiving his salary. (R. p. 327, lines 1-25; 30(b)(6) Dep. p. 40.)

Just before this alleged accident occurred, the Claimant and his wife purchased a home in Myrtle Beach, which was in foreclosure. The Claimant testified that he “designated the home as his work location also” (R. p. 171, lines 14-24; Hr’g Tr. 46.), but there is no evidence that the Employer leases the home from the Claimant or otherwise pays rent in any way. Claimant testified he gets all of the Employer’s work mail at a post office box in Myrtle Beach and receives only his personal mail at the house. (R. p. 172, lines 2-7; Hr’g Tr. 47.)

The Claimant testified that on the morning of March 24, 2015, he met with a paper supply vendor for about two and half hours. Right after that meeting he had another meeting with a salesman. He did not do any physical work that morning. “That was the only strenuous work I did that morning.” (R. p. 174, lines 3-10; Hr’g Tr. 49.) Later, according to the Claimant, he and a part-time worker, Matt Maziarz, were unloading materials out of a trailer and into the garage at his house. (R. p. 177, lines 1-12; Hr’g Tr. 52.) Claimant testified that they unloaded bags of white play sand and, he said, five gallon buckets of wax used in his business. (R. p. 177, line 22-p. 178, line 21; Hr’g Tr. 52-53.) According to the Claimant’s testimony at the hearing, he injured himself sometime in the early afternoon when he was moving the wax. The Claimant testified that he picked up two five gallon buckets of wax and turned around and “all the sudden it felt – you know when you straighten your arm out and your arm pops, well, just ten times

that and then it immediately started burning. So I said, 'ouch'." Claimant testified that he felt a pop and burning in the back of his neck. (R. p. 178, line 23-p.179, line 10; Hr'g Tr. 53-54.) The Claimant testified that he continued on with his work during the day. When he quit, he and Matt ordered pizza and he put ice and then hot packs on his neck, laid down and fell asleep. According to the Claimant, "the next thing I know I was waking up screaming and hollering, couldn't hardly breathe and tried to lift my foot up to get out the bed. Couldn't get it. So I just reached over and called my wife and told her there was something bad wrong." (R. p. 180, lines 1-16; Hr'g Tr. 55.) This was apparently in the early morning hours of March 25, 2015. The Claimant then called 911. (R. p. 180, line 16; Hr'g Tr. 55.) The Claimant's wife, Susan Adell, testified he told her that he hurt himself building shelves at their home. (R. p. 323, line 6-p. 324, line 2; 30(b)(6) Dep. pp. 14-15.)

The Claimant's story at the hearing is inconsistent with the documentary evidence in the case and the multiple histories he has given. The Horry County Fire & Rescue (EMS) records reflect a completely different story. They arrived on the scene at approximately 1:00 a.m. on March 25, 2015. According to these EMS records, they found Mr. Adell kneeling against a coffee table in the living room of his home. The EMS record states:

"Pt stated that he is having extreme neck pain. **He stated that his pain has been off and on for three months.** He went to the chiropractor and got adjusted recently which helped the pain temporarily. Pain was in his neck and went into both arms. Pt stated that he took pain medicine after he ate dinner. *He also said that he is supposed to take a muscle relaxer at bedtime but did not take any tonight.*" (Employer's APA pp. 1-2) (emphasis added).

There is no mention in the EMS records of any injury as a result of picking up buckets of wax or any other accident. The emergency department records from the Waccamaw Community Hospital reflect the same thing. According to those records, the Claimant presented with "neck pain which he states began about three months ago, but has been exacerbated tonight. Patient has seen several physicians concerning this issue and has not had significant relief." (R. p. 64; Claimant's APA p. 2.) Again, there is no mention of any accident occurring earlier in the afternoon. The emergency records also reflect a CT scan obtained which revealed *no acute abnormalities*. (R. p. 65; APA p. 5.) Another note in the emergency room records reflect that Claimant had been seen by a chiropractor and Dr. Smith<sup>1</sup> for three months. (R. p. 66; APA p. 8.) The emergency room records further reflect that Claimant "appears to be anxious unable to sit still. Reports difficulty sitting still, rocking back and forth. States that he has been hurting for two to three months." (R. p. 67; APA p. 34.)

On March 27, 2015, two days after being released from the Waccamaw Medical Center emergency room, the Claimant went to Park Ridge Health Hospital in Hendersonville, North Carolina near his permanent residence. The history in those records reflect that he had been complaining of neck pain for four months. The Park Ridge records reflect that the onset of his neck pain was "chronic" and that there was no specific injury, and that whatever might have occurred was "at home". (R. p. 68; Claimant's APA p. 46.)

---

<sup>1</sup> Robert Smith, MD, practiced at Forge Mountain Medicine and was Claimant's primary care physician. (Hr'g Tr. 62; 69.)

The Claimant testified that, before this incident which allegedly occurred on March 24, 2015, he had never been diagnosed with any kind of disc problem with his neck. (R. p. 174, lines 20-23; Hr'g Tr. 49.) When asked whether he had ever experienced any intense neck pain with radicular symptoms, the Claimant explained that he had because he is 6'6" tall and the machines used to clean and wax floors are not made for someone his height. (R. p. 174, line 24-p. 176, line 23; Hr'g Tr. 49-51.)

On cross-examination the Claimant admitted he had been seeing a chiropractor three times a week for back and joint pain "for many years" and had been regularly taking muscle relaxers. (R. p. 190, lines 3-12; Hr'g Tr. 65.) He also admitted that the chiropractor had treated the top of his shoulders and the base of his neck. (R. p. 191, lines 4-24; Hr'g Tr. 66.) He further admitted that he had previously seen medical doctors at the Forge Mountain Medical Center for chronic muscle, back and neck pain before this alleged accident. Those records from May 27, 2014 (R. pp. 82-88; See Carrier's APAs at pp. 273-279) reflect he had chronic back pain and joint pain (R. p. 84; APA p. 275) and that he was taking a host of drugs, including Celebrex, Flexeril, Oxycodone, Restoril, Xanax, Prozac and Viagra. (R. pp. 86-87; Carrier's APA pp. 277-278.) On June 6, 2014, he returned to Forge Valley Medical Center and presented with chronic "muscle pain" which had increased in severity. (R. pp. 89-92; APA pp. 280-283.)

The Employer filed a First Report of Injury with the North Carolina Industrial Commission and the Carrier. There is nothing in the record reflecting when that First Report was actually filed. In the report, signed by the Claimant's wife and

dated March 30, 2015, she was asked to describe fully how the injury occurred and what the employee was doing when injured. The response provides: "moving and installing shelving and setting up temporary storage facility for Myrtle Beach expansion." (R. p. 78; Carrier's APA p. 254.) There is no mention of a lifting injury of any sort. When quizzed about what her husband told her on the phone the morning of March 25, 2015, Mrs. Adell testified that the Claimant told her he hurt his neck while "setting up shelves." (R. p. 323, line 4-p. 324, line 2; 30(b)(6) Dep. pp.14-15.)

The Claimant's original Form 50 (filing a claim only) dated May 7, 2015, stated that "the Claimant was working on a storage facility when he **fell** injuring his neck/back." On May 18, 2015, the Claimant filed a Form 50 requesting a hearing, stating that the "Claimant was working on a storage facility when he fractured his neck/back. He was carrying a five gallon bucket of wax when he felt a crack/pop in his neck. Claimant put ice on his neck just after this happened. Pain got progressively worse through the evening." Both Form 50s, of course, ask, "To the best of your knowledge, did you have any prior permanent disability?" Despite having chronic back and neck problems for years, the Claimant failed to answer this question in either Form 50. When his Form 50 was re-filed following his earlier withdrawal prior to the hearing he answered, "No."

The Claimant's story evolved dramatically over time, to the date of the hearing. At no time contemporaneously with the accident did the Claimant report having picked up two five-gallon buckets of wax, as he testified at the hearing. Further, the Claimant testified that he had never had any problems with his neck

before, but the EMS and emergency room records of March 25, 2015 and March 27, 2015 are replete with references to his serious ongoing neck problems for which he was receiving medical treatment and taking medications. The evolution of the Claimant's story begins shortly afterward, as reflected in the medical records of Carolina Spine and Neurosurgery on April 2, 2015. There, the Claimant stated he had no prior history of neck problems and that the accident occurred while he was "building shelves and (sic) burring (sic) of new supplies at he (sic) and his wife's new business and (sic) Myrtle Beach." (R. p. 69; Claimant's APA p. 55.) The March 30, 2015, records of Forge Mountain Medical Center, an affiliate of Park Ridge Heath, reflect that the Claimant was there with his wife and they reported that he complained of: "acute severe neck pain that started while he was in Myrtle Beach working on his second home five days ago. He was lifting a *sixty pound bag of dirt*, had instant pain, and actually caused the patient to scream in pain. The Claimant further reported previous neck pain for about three months, which he said was exacerbated after picking up the bag of dirt."

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of a decision by the Appellate Panel. Carolinas Recycling Grp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 398 S.C. 480, 483, 730 S.E.2d 324, 326 (Ct. App. 2012). Under the scope of review established in the APA, this Court may reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision if the substantive rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole

record; or arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(e-f). This Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission on the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law. Stephen v. Avins Const. Co., 324 S.C. 334, 337, 478 S.E.2d 74, 76 (Ct. App. 1996). Instead, review of issues of fact is limited to determining whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 289, 599 S.E.2d 604, 610-11 (Ct. App. 2004). Substantial evidence is evidence that would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the appellate panel. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). An appellate court can reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision if the decision is “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.” Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 619, 611 S.E.2d 297, 300 (Ct. App. 2005).

### **ARGUMENT**

- 1. The South Carolina Worker's Commission erred in finding that Claimant suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Clean Streak, Inc.**

The Appellate Panel's finding that Claimant suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Clean Streak is not supported by substantial evidence in the record. In view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record, the Appellate Panel's finding is clearly erroneous. It is difficult to find reliable, probative, and substantial evidence to

support a Claimant's Claim when a Claimant's story evolves so dramatically over the course of the claim. The most credible medical history tends to be that which is given contemporaneously with an event. In this case, Mr. Adell woke up in the middle of the night with excruciating neck pain according to him and the EMS records. He told the EMS attendant and the doctors in the emergency room at Waccamaw Medical Center that he had been having significant neck pains for three to four months. Nowhere in those records does he describe any acute injury by accident. Nowhere in those records does Claimant say that he hurt his neck while lifting two five gallon buckets of wax, or while lifting a sixty pound bag of dirt, or from a fall, or while building shelving, or that any incident at all occurred while he was working for Clean Streak, Inc. Indeed, the medical evidence reflects that Claimant had chronic, long-term problems with his neck and back for which he had been treated for years.

The record is devoid of substantial evidence that shows the Claimant suffered an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Clean Streak, Inc. Further, there is no medical evidence to support a claim for the exacerbation of a pre-existing condition under SC Code § 42-9-35, nor does Claimant make such a claim.

**2. Even if Claimant suffered a compensable injury, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel's decision erred in awarding the Claimant temporary total disability benefits.**

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