THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 25 2017

APPEAL FROM
APPELLATE PANEL, WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. File No. 1504993
Appellate Case No. 2017-000084

Horace L. Adell, Jr., Employee, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

Clean Streak Inc., Employer, Respondent,

and

Builders Mutual Insurance Company, Carrier, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ADELL

John S. Nichols SC Bar #4210
Blake A. Hewitt SC Bar # 73674
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS
THOMPSON & DELGADO
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

Daniel E. Peagler SC Bar # 8820
MICHAEL JOHNSON, PC & ASSOCIATES
2001 Lincoln St.
Columbia, SC 29201

Attorneys for Respondent Adell

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

William Trembley, III testified his occupation is the sales and marketing director for Building Industry Synergy Magazine which covers Myrtle Beach, Horry, and Georgetown Counties. (R.p.138, l. 24 - p.139, l. 5). Mr. Trembley stated he first met Claimant and Claimant's wife during a home show in February 2015 at the Myrtle Beach Convention Center. (R.p.139, ll. 6-12). Mr. Trembley had an ongoing business relationship with the Adells (Claimant and his wife, Susan) (R.p.140, ll. 4-11) and met them in their office on February 25, 2015 at Cedar Run Trail in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R.p.140, l. 13; p.141 ll. 16-19). Mr. Trembley stated there was "no doubt" the office seemed to be set up as an ongoing business office. (R.p. 140, l. 24 - p. 141, l. 1). When asked whether the Claimant appeared to be in any type of medical distress when they met at the Claimant's office, Mr. Trembley testified "Absolutely not. Just quite contrary. I was very impressed by his physical stature and how he carried himself and the fact he would get in there and do the jobs himself." (R.p.142, ll. 9-14).

Matthew Maziarz testified he was working with the Claimant on or around March 25, 2015, doing tile work on the Clean Streak office bathroom and helping the Claimant unload a trailer of equipment the Claimant brought from Asheville. (R.p.150, ll. 5-13). Mr. Maziarz further testified he finished the tile work, and then sometime in the afternoon he and the

Claimant started unloading the trailer of supplies (R.p.150, ll. 23-25), including five-gallon buckets of wax, equipment, sand, and cleaning stuff for the business. (R.p.151, ll. 1-6). Claimant seemed good, energetic, and definitely not hurt that morning, and Mr. Maziarz he did not notice any type of guarded movement or anything that would indicate any kind of medical distress. (R.p.151, ll. 13-20). Mr. Maziarz added he had never heard Claimant complain of any kind of neck problems before the day Claimant was injured. (R.p.153, ll. 11-14).

Mr. Maziarz testified Claimant had two five-gallon buckets, one in each arm, adding:

And I remember he was carrying them out and when he went to set them down he obviously showed some discomfort and some pain and grabbed at his neck. And then, of course, you know, he said we need to take a break and we - - you know, that's pretty much it for the rest of the day. He ended up going in and putting a pack on his neck and, you know, pretty much taking it easy for the rest of the day after that.

(R.p.151, l.22 - p.152, l. 6). Mr. Maziarz stated that later that night he heard something and discovered it was the Claimant, laying in the floor at the bottom of the stairs screaming and needing to go to the hospital. (R.p.153, ll. 2-6). Mr. Maziarz called 9-1-1, and the Claimant was picked up by an ambulance. (R.p.153, ll.7- 10). After waiting several hours while the Claimant was treated at the hospital, Mr. Maziarz and the Claimant went back to Asheville. (R.p.154, ll. 2-18).

On cross-examination, Mr. Maziarz testified that at the time of the Claimant's accident Mr. Maziarz was a sub-contractor (R.p.155, l. 14 - p.156, l. 3) and at the time of the hearing he no longer was doing work for Clean Streak, as he was working full-time as a manager with Bojangles. (R.p.156, ll. 19-21). Mr. Maziarz testified that he actually saw Claimant lift up two five-gallon buckets and that was when Claimant said he hurt himself. (R.p.157, ll. 1-7). Mr.

Maziarz added that he was not aware of any other neck or back problems the Claimant had before March 25, 2015. (R.p.157, ll. 14-17).

On re-direct examination, Mr. Maziarz testified the buckets of wax weighed about 40 pounds each, and the bags of dirt or sand are "usually 80 pounds, or somewhere in there." (R.p.161, l. 20 - p.162, l. 3).

Claimant testified he was born on November 7, 1961 and at the time of the hearing he was fifty-four years old. (R.p.165, ll. 9-12). Claimant testified he is married to Susan Adell and they have a daughter named Brittany. (R.p.165, ll. 13-24). Claimant graduated from High School and then went into the military, where he served for five years in the 82nd Airborne, Green Beret, after which he was given an honorable discharge. (R.p.167, ll. 3-11).

Claimant stated he began cleaning buildings during his off-time from full-time jobs which evolved into Clean Streak. (R.p.168, ll. 15-25). Claimant has been running Clean Streak for some time, and has experienced growth for the company in the last 15 years, with 32 employees in North Carolina at the time of the hearing plus three employees in South Carolina. (R.p.169, 1.1 - p.170, l. 7).

Claimant testified he and his wife decided to purchase a home in the Myrtle Beach area, and to put the office in the home as he had done in Asheville. (R.p.171, ll. 2-24). The Claimant found a foreclosure to purchase which had garage and office space, and this was designated as the work location also. (R.p.172, ll.7-24). The office was set up with a P.O. Box for the business mail, with a designated phone line for the business, and a storage facility for the business, and business only. (R.p.172, ll. 8-23).

Claimant testified the morning of March 24, 2015 he was meeting with a vendor for paper

products, then a salesman. Claimant stated that he had never been diagnosed with any kind of disc problem in his neck nor seen a specialist for his neck before the work accident of March 25, 2015. (R.p.174, ll. 20-23; p.176, ll. 15-18).

Claimant "got hurt" when he was taking items off the trailer and putting them in the garage where he kept the materials for the business, including sand used to clean floors, paper products, and five-gallon buckets of wax. (R.p.177, l. 1 - p.178, l. 8). Claimant was moving wax when he was injured, stating "I went to go on the back of the trailer, I picked up two five-gallon buckets like I've always done, just picked it up and I turned around with it and all the sudden it felt like - you know when you straighten your arm out and your arm pop, well, just ten times that and then it immediately started burning. So I said 'Ouch.'" (R.p.178, l.23 - p.179, l. 4). Claimant felt the pop "in the middle of the neck right back here" and he felt the burn "right in the same place." (R.p.179, ll .5-10). Claimant put ice and then heat on his neck and laid down and went to sleep. (R.p.179, ll. 15-24). Claimant woke up screaming, hollering, and could hardly breathe; he called his wife, then pulled himself to the stairwell, calling for Matt, telling him to call 9-1-1. (R.p.180, ll. 1-16). The ambulance came and Claimant told them his neck hurt all the time because he did not know what else to say. (R.p.181, ll. 8-12).

Claimant stated he had never experienced that type of pain before. (R.p.181, ll. 17-19). Claimant was eventually referred to Dr. Rhoton who performed surgery on the Claimant's neck. (R.p.182, ll. 1-2, 22-25). Dr. Rhoton has been Claimant's main treating doctor, and although the treatment received from physical therapy has improved his condition, Claimant also feels he needs further treatment and that he has not been released from Dr. Rhoton's care. (R.p.183, l. 20 - p.184 l. 6). Claimant testified no doctor has said he is at maximum medical improvement, and

he hopes to go back to work (R.p.184, ll.7- 21).

Claimant made a salary of \$1,500.00 per week from Clean Streak, Inc. (R.p.176, ll. 19-21). The Claimant was taken out of work right after this accident, and has not returned to work (as of the time of the hearing) since March 25, 2015. (R.p.183, ll.5-16).

Thus, the Commission's factual determination that Claimant suffered an injury during the course of his employment is supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole.

Third, Carrier's argument on this point is so conclusory that this Court could deem the issue to be abandoned. The argument is contained in one page without citation to any supporting authority (other than the statute governing exacerbation of pre-existing injuries which, Carrier points out, was not an argument in the case) (App. Br. p. 11). An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory. *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 543 S.E.2d 541 (2001); *Burris v. Propst Lumber & Logging, Inc.*, 396 S.C. 85, 719 S.E.2d 695 (Ct. App. 2011).

Accordingly, the Court should reject Carrier's argument and affirm the order of the Appellate Panel.

II. CLAIMANT'S ABILITY TO WORK, STANDING ALONE, DID NOT PRECLUDE THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION FROM FINDING CLAIMANT IS DISABLED AND ELIGIBLE FOR TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

The upshot of Carrier's argument under this issue is that because there is evidence that Claimant was able to do some work, the Commission erred as a matter of law in awarding him temporary total disability benefits. (App. Br. pp. 12-15). The Court should reject this argument.

Carrier cites *Wynn v. Peoples Natural Gas Co.*, 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E.2d 812 (1961) to support its assertion that the Commission improperly awarded Claimant temporary total disability benefits. *Wynn*, however, is distinguishable in meaningful ways.

In *Wynn*, the claimant suffered a work-related heart attack. He returned to work part-time and then resigned, allegedly on doctor's orders. Both of his physicians testified, however, that he was able to work. The Supreme Court held that there was insufficient evidence to support a total disability award. In this case, however, Claimant's physician, Dr. Eric Rhoton, wrote him out of work (R.p.183, ll. 5-9; pp. 70-72) and Claimant has been unable to return to work (although he has gone into work for short periods). (R.p.183, ll. 8-16; p.212, l. 7 - p.214, l. 21).

Furthermore, the fact that Claimant was able to work in a very limited capacity, standing alone, does not preclude the Commission's finding that he suffered temporary total disability. *Cf. Clemmons v. Lowe's Home Centers*, Op. No. 27708 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed March 8, 2017) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 33) (noting that claimant's ability to work, alone, is not sufficient to rebut presumption of total and permanent disability under scheduled member statute with regard to back impairment greater than 50%); *Wigfall v. Tideland Utils., Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 109, 580 S.E.2d 100, 104 (2003) ("In the context of scheduled injuries, South Carolina recognizes a

claimant's entitlement to be deemed disabled and to receive compensation for an injury even though the claimant is able to work.”).

Whether a claimant is disabled due to a work-related injury is a question of fact for the commission, *Gadson v. Mikasa Corp.*, 368 S.C. 214, 628 S.E.2d 262 (Ct. App. 2006), as is the extent of a claimant's disability. *Hamilton v. Martin Color-Fi, Inc.*, 405 S.C. 478, 748 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 2013). *See also Clark v. Aiken County Government*, 366 S.C. 102, 620 S.E.2d 99 (Ct. App. 2005) (the Appellate Panel's finding as to the degree of impairment is a question of fact).

The hearing commissioner and the Appellate Panel both found Claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits. Those findings are supported by evidence in the record. The Court should affirm under the Court's limited scope of judicial review.

III. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE STATEMENT FROM CLAIMANT'S CHIROPRACTOR

The Appellate Panel found Dr. Clay Seigel's statement was admissible under the APA and Regulations 67-611 and 67-612. (R.p.29). Carrier argues the Commission erred in admitting the statement because Claimant failed to offer Dr. Seigel's records. (App. Br. p. 15). Carrier also contends “this Court should find the negative inference that the records show years of treatment to the Claimant's neck, consistent with the [Claimant's] testimony,” adding “this Court should reverse the Appellate Panel's admission of this statement.” (App. Br. pp. 15-16). The Court should reject these arguments.

First, Carrier makes this argument in one paragraph without citation to any authority to support its various theories for exclusion. An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the

brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory. *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 543 S.E.2d 541 (2001); *Butler v. Butler*, 385 S.C. 328, 684 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App.2009); *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 213, 682 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App.2009); *Pack v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 381 S.C. 526, 673 S.E.2d 461 (Ct. App.2009); *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 662 S.E.2d 611 (Ct. App.2008).

Second, the two bases for the Carrier's complaint – that the statement was not admissible without supporting records and that the court should draw a negative inference from the absence of those records – were not ruled upon by the hearing commissioner or the Appellate Panel. (R.p.130, ll. 2-7; R.p.231, l. 23 - p.233, l. 14).

Furthermore, an appellant may not argue a different ground on appeal than appellant argued as the basis for an objection below. *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997), *superseded by statute on other grounds*, *Holmes v. East Cooper Community Hosp., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 138, 758 S.E.2d 483 (2014).

Next, the Appellate Panel held the evidence was admissible under the APA “and Regulations 67-611 and 67-612.” (R.p.29, ¶ 5). Carrier did not challenge the conclusion that the document was admissible under the Regulations so this ruling became the law of the case. *See, e.g., Hilton v. Flakeboard America Limited*, 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016) (only issues raised to the Commission within the application for review of the hearing commissioner's order are preserved for review).

Even so, the Commission's ruling was correct and within its discretion. Claimant offered the statement as a report and asked the appellate panel to consider it under the APA. (R.p.234, l. 3 - p.235, l. 13). The Commission accepted the statement pursuant to its own regulations. 25A S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-612(B)(1) (Supp. 2016). So long as the report was provided in timely

fashion, the Commission had discretion to permit its introduction. *Gadson v. Mikasa Corp.*, 368 S.C. 214, 628 S.E.2d 262 (Ct. App. 2006). And even if the report was not provided in accordance with the regulation, the Commission had discretion to allow it upon permitting Carrier to take a deposition de benne esse of Dr. Seigel. Reg. 67-612(E), (J).

Finally, Carrier has not explained how it was prejudiced by the admission of Dr. Seigel's report. *See Cook v. Atlantic Coast Line R.R. Co.*, 196 S.C. 230, 13 S.E.2d 1 (1941) (a party claiming reversible error must demonstrate both error and resulting prejudice).

The Court should reject Carrier's arguments and affirm the Appellate Panel's decision.

IV. APPELLANT ABANDONED ANY ISSUE REGARDING THE APPELLATE PANEL'S AWARD FOR PAYMENT OF CLAIMANT'S MEDICAL TREATMENT AND SURGERY

Carrier included the following among its "Statement of Issues on Appeal":

Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel Err in Awarding Payment for Medical Treatment and Surgery when Claimant made no attempt to inform the carrier of this surgery and obtain prior authorization?

(App. Br. p. 1, Issue No. 4). However, there is no argument on this issue on the brief.

Where an appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority with regard to an issue on appeal, the issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal. *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994); *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 640 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2006); *Arnal v. Arnal*, 363 S.C. 268, 609 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2005), *aff'd as modified* 371 S.C. 10, 636 S.E.2d 864 (2006); *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 485 (Ct. App. 2004); *Fields v. Fields*, 342 S.C. 182, 536 S.E.2d 684 (Ct. App. 2000).

Accordingly, the Court should deem the issue to be abandoned. *See, e.g., State v. Lindsey*,

394 S.C. 354, 714 S.E.2d 554 (2011) (holding Court precluded from addressing issue identified in statement of issues on appeal but not argued in brief). *See also State v. Palmer*, 413 S.C. 410, 413 n. 1, 776 S.E.2d 558, 559 n. 1 (2015) (issue deemed abandoned where petitioner did not brief the issue).

In the brief to the Appellate Panel, Employer argued in conclusory fashion and without citation to any authority that “[t]he Commission, therefore, cannot order the Carrier to pay for such medical attention if the Carrier was never given an opportunity to investigate and authorize such surgery.” (R.pp.105-106). There was no challenge, however, to the hearing commissioner’s finding that the Carrier essentially ignored Claimant once Carrier decided to deny the claim in its entirety.

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